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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA

_________________________________________
THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
)
)
Plaintiff,
)
)
v.
)
)
)
THE STATE OF LOUISIANA,
)
)
Defendant.
)
__________________________________________)

COMPLAINT
Civil Action No: 3:18-cv-608

INTRODUCTION
1.

The United States brings this action to enforce the rights of adults with serious mental

illness to receive services in the most integrated setting appropriate to their needs. The State of
Louisiana administers and funds its programs and services for adults with serious mental illness
in a manner that results in their unnecessary institutionalization in public and private nursing
facilities, and places them at serious risk of such institutionalization, in violation of Title II of the
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (the “ADA”), 42 U.S.C. §§ 12131-12134, and its
implementing regulations.
2.

Life for residents of nursing facilities is highly regimented, with little autonomy to make

choices in daily life. Residents are isolated from the larger community and have limited
opportunities to interact with individuals without disabilities. Nursing facilities are not
integrated settings.
3.

Integrated and appropriate services for adults with serious mental illness exist within the

State’s publicly funded services. The State could reasonably modify its systems to provide
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adequate community-based services to those adults with serious mental illness who are
inappropriately institutionalized, or at serious risk of institutionalization, in nursing facilities.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
4.

This Court has jurisdiction over this action under Title II of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12133,

and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345. The Court may grant the relief sought in this action pursuant to 28
U.S.C. §§ 2201-2202; 28 C.F.R. §§ 35.170-174, 190(e).
5.

Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), given that a substantial

part of the acts and omissions giving rise to this action occurred in the Middle District of
Louisiana.
PARTIES
6.

Plaintiff is the United States of America. The Attorney General brings this civil action to

seek remedies for violations of Title II of the ADA. See 42 U.S.C. §§ 12133-12134; 28 C.F.R.
§§ 35.170-174, 190(e).
7.

Defendant, State of Louisiana, is a “public entity” within the meaning of the ADA, 42

U.S.C. § 12131(1), and is therefore subject to Title II of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12131 et seq., and
its implementing regulations, 28 C.F.R. pt. 35. The State is responsible for ensuring that State
programs and services conform to the ADA. Louisiana administers and funds services for adults
with serious mental illness through the Louisiana Department of Health.
8.

The Louisiana Department of Health (LDH) manages the State’s Medicaid program,

which includes coverage of behavioral health services to Medicaid-enrolled adults with serious
mental illness. LDH is responsible for regulating, overseeing, and providing funding for
community-based behavioral health services, including permanent supported housing.
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LDH also regulates, oversees, and provides funding for home and community-based

services for adults with physical health needs, including the Community Choices Waiver, and
Long-Term Personal Care Services (LT-PCS).
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
A. Individuals with Serious Mental Illness Are Persons with Disabilities Protected by the
ADA.
10.

Individuals with serious mental illness admitted to or at serious risk of institutionalization

in nursing facilities have illnesses such as schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, or major depression
that substantially limit one or more major life activities, including personal care, working,
concentrating, thinking, and sleeping. They are persons with disabilities as defined by the ADA.
11.

People with serious mental illness in nursing facilities in the State and those at serious

risk of entry into those facilities are similar to people with serious mental illness who receive
services in the community. They have similar diagnoses and needs as people who live
successfully in more independent community-based settings with the types of supports and
services that currently exist in the State’s community behavioral health system. The great
majority of these individuals are qualified to receive mental health services in the community in
integrated settings, and do not object to receiving services in those settings.
B. Nursing Facilities Are Segregated, Institutional Settings.
12.

Louisiana’s nursing facilities are segregated, institutional settings, where residents are

unable to interact with people without disabilities to the fullest extent possible. People confined
to those nursing facilities lack meaningful opportunities to choose roommates, friends, living
arrangements, daily schedule, or even food and mealtimes. They lack meaningful choices for
work or other ways to spend their days. Many facilities in the State have locked exits, and some
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also have locked gates around the building exterior. They are largely isolated from the larger
community.
C. Thousands of Louisianans with Serious Mental Illness Are Needlessly Entering and
Living in Nursing Facilities.
13.

Individuals with serious mental illness live in nearly all of Louisiana’s 258 Medicaid-

funded nursing facilities. At least eight facilities, including the State-run Villa Feliciana in
Jackson, Louisiana, are known to “specialize” in taking individuals with serious mental illness.
Nationally, Louisiana has one of the highest percentages of nursing facility residents with serious
mental illness, with at least 3,800 individuals, or 14.5% of all residents reported in 2016.
Residents with serious mental illness tend to be among the younger nursing facility residents
with the fewest care needs.
14.

About 1,000 Louisianans with serious mental illness enter nursing facilities each year,

often directly from hospitals. They often enter nursing facilities after years of repeated
hospitalizations for psychiatric crisis, homelessness, untreated substance use disorders, and
incarcerations. Once institutionalized in nursing facilities, some face long-term commitments to
locked “behavioral” units; others are admitted on a temporary placement that becomes longterm, effectively precluding the opportunity to return to a home in the community.
15.

Individuals with serious mental illness in nursing facilities in Louisiana who express a

desire to leave the facility and return to their own communities routinely receive little or no
assistance to do so. One resident woman in her fifties experienced a psychiatric crisis after the
death of a family member and ended up in a nursing facility. Four years later, she is still in the
facility, though she is desperate to return home, spend time with people her own age, find work,
and enjoy community life again. Seventy-three percent of people with serious mental illness
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placed in nursing facilities stay in those facilities for longer than a year, and both providers and
resigned residents expect that they will stay for the rest of their lives.
16.

Louisiana has long recognized that it unnecessarily relies on institutions at the expense of

its community-based system and fails to provide sufficient services to enable adults with mental
illness to live in the community.
17.

In 2011, the State acknowledged that over the past two decades, it “has remained

dependent on psychiatric hospital levels of care. . . . While other states were re-organizing their
funding approach and moving to a greater proportion of high intensity community based
programs, Louisiana continued to have greater fiscal resources directed toward inpatient care.”
Louisiana Office of Behavioral Health, FY 2012 Combined Behavioral Health Assessment and
Plan Block Grant Application, at 29 (Sept. 1, 2011).
18.

Community-based services for adults with behavioral health needs already exist within

Louisiana’s behavioral health system, including psychiatric services, intensive case management,
Community Psychiatric Support and Treatment (CPST), Psychosocial Rehabilitation (PSR),
crisis services, peer support services, Assertive Community Treatment, supported employment,
substance use disorder treatment, and permanent supported housing. These services are not
available uniformly throughout the State’s system. Even where available, they are not available
in sufficient quantities to meet the need.
19.

Home and community-based services including personal care, home health, and nursing

services can support many adults with co-occurring mental and physical health care needs.
Louisiana’s Community Choices Waiver, providing the most comprehensive package of nursing,
home health, and personal care services, serves fewer than 5,000 people. The waiver has a
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waitlist of 36,000 people. Louisiana’s less-intensive Long-Term Personal Care Services (LTPCS) program serves 23,000 people.
20.

Insufficient in-home supports for both behavioral and physical health needs directly

contribute to nursing facility confinement for many individuals who may need only limited inhome support services in order to remain in their own homes.
21.

Louisiana operates a substantial permanent supported housing program. The program

assists some people in transitioning from nursing facilities but does not have sufficient supported
housing or transition staff available to meet the needs of individuals with serious mental illness
who remain institutionalized. Many individuals with serious mental illness who would like to
transition from nursing facilities are never even referred to the entity designated to manage
transitions.
D. Louisiana’s Administration of Its Service System Has Caused Unnecessary Segregation
of Individuals with Serious Mental Illness in Nursing Facilities and Placed Others At
Serious Risk of Unnecessary Institutionalization.
22.

LDH administers Healthy Louisiana (the State’s Medicaid program), the Office of

Behavioral Health, and the Office of Adult and Aging Services. Through these programs, the
State determines what services will be provided, where services will be available, how services
will be funded, who will be eligible for services, how service quality will be evaluated, and what
providers are permitted to offer the services.
23.

LDH, through its Office of Adult and Aging Services and its Office of Behavioral Health,

oversees the Preadmission Screening and Resident Review (PASRR) program, pursuant to the
Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1396r. Congress enacted PASRR as part of the Nursing Home
Reform Act of 1987, “specifically to end the practice of inappropriately institutionalizing
individuals with mental illness . . . in nursing homes.” Joseph S. v. Hogan, 561 F. Supp. 2d 280,
285 (E.D.N.Y. 2008).
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The State has not implemented an effective screening and evaluation process to divert

qualified individuals away from nursing facility admission and to connect them to appropriate
community-based services, as required by law. Louisiana has an 86% nursing facility approval
rate for people with serious mental illness. Many people with serious mental illness are never
offered community-based services as an alternative to a nursing facility placement.
25.

Evidence-based practices like Assertive Community Treatment (ACT), permanent

supported housing, mobile crisis services, supported employment, and peer support reduce the
need for institutional care. Individuals with serious mental illness living in the community may
need one or more of these community-based services at any given time to avoid unnecessary
hospitalization. Yet the State fails to provide sufficient community-based behavioral health
services, leaving thousands of people with no viable alternative to entering a nursing facility to
obtain needed support.
26.

People with serious mental illness are also forced into nursing facilities when they cannot

access home and community-based services like personal care, home health, and nursing, such as
when they need help with housekeeping, meal preparation, and grocery shopping and none is
available.
27.

Most nursing facilities have neither the expertise nor the incentive to conduct effective

transition planning for people with serious mental illness. Transitions occur infrequently, and
may be short-lived because of the failure to connect individuals to effective and appropriate
community-based services.
28.

Without effective diversion and transition systems, Louisiana will continue to

unnecessarily institutionalize individuals with serious mental illness who could appropriately be
served in the community.
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E. The State Can Provide Services in Integrated Settings by Reasonably Modifying Its
Community-Based Services Systems.
29.

The State can make reasonable modifications to its community-based services system to

serve in integrated community settings people with serious mental illness who are currently
confined to or at serious risk of entry into nursing facilities.
30.

The types of services needed to support people with serious mental illness in community-

based settings already exist in Louisiana’s community-based service systems.
31.

Reasonable modifications include expansion of the capacity to provide existing services,

reallocation of funds from institutional settings, and maximization of federal Medicaid funding.
F. The Department of Justice Investigation
32.

The United States received a complaint of discrimination about Louisiana’s overuse of

nursing facilities to provide services to people with serious mental illness in 2014. Following an
investigation under Title II of the ADA, the United States notified the Governor of its conclusion
that the State fails to provide services to adults with mental illness in the most integrated setting
appropriate to their needs as required by the ADA. Letter from United States Department of
Justice, Civil Rights Division to Governor John Bel Edwards (December 21, 2016). The letter
provided the State notice of its failure to comply with the ADA, and identified the steps
necessary for the State to meet its obligations pursuant to federal law.
33.

All conditions precedent to the filing of this Complaint have been satisfied.
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VIOLATION OF TITLE II OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT
42 U.S.C. §§ 12131-12134
34.

The allegations of Paragraphs 1 through 33 of this Complaint are hereby re-alleged and

incorporated by reference.
35.

Defendant, State of Louisiana, is a public entity subject to Title II of the ADA, 42 U.S.C.

§ 12131(1).
36.

The State violates the ADA by administering the State’s public health system in a manner

that denies qualified adults with serious mental illness the benefits of the State’s services,
programs, or activities in the most integrated setting appropriate to their needs, and by failing to
reasonably modify the State’s service system to avoid discrimination against adults with mental
health disabilities. 42 U.S.C. § 12132; 28 C.F.R. 35.130.
37.

The State’s actions constitute discrimination in violation of Title II of the ADA, 42

U.S.C. § 12131 et seq., and its implementing regulations at 28 C.F.R. pt. 35.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF
The United States of America prays that the Court:
A. Grant judgment in favor of the United States on its Complaint and declare that the
Defendant has violated Title II of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12131 - 12134;
B. Enjoin Defendant from:
1. discriminating against adults with serious mental illness in Louisiana by failing to
provide services, programs, or activities in the most integrated setting appropriate to
their needs; and
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2. failing to provide appropriate, integrated community services, programs, or activities
to adults with serious mental illness in Louisiana so as to avoid placing these
individuals at serious risk of institutional.ization in nursing facilities; and
C. Order such other appropriate relief as the interests of justice may re�uire.
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BRANDON J, FREMIN
United States Attorney
Middle District of Louisiana

JOHNM.GORE
Acting Assistant Attorney General
Civil Rights Division

A�

STEVEN H. ROSENBAUM
Chief, Special Litigation Section

Isl John J. G�upp
JOHN J. GAUPP, LBN 14976
Assistant United States Attorney
777 Florida Street, Suite 208
Baton Rouge, Louisiana 70801
Telephone: (225) 389-0443
Fax: (225) 389-0685
E-mail: john.gaupp@usdoj.gov

MARY R. BOHAN
Deputy Chief
C. ADRIENNE MALLINSON
NH Bar No. 17126
Trial Attorney
Special Litigation Section
Civil Rights Division
U.S. Department of Justice
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. - PHB
Washington, DC 20530
Telephone: (202) 353- 11 42
Fax: (202) 514-0212
.adriermc.malli11son@usdoj.gov

lO

I

+

Case 3:18-cv-00608-JWD-EWD Document 1

06/06/18 Page 11 of 11

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing Complaint was filed electronically with the
Clerk of Court using the CM/ECF system. Notice of this filing will be sent to all counsel of
record by operation of the court’s electronic filing system and via email.
Baton Rouge, Louisiana, this 6th day of June, 2018.
/s/ John J. Gaupp
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